
A.4 - 1 
ZONING CHANGE REVIEW SHEET 

 
CASE NUMBER: C14H-2015-0002 HLC DATE:  March 23, 2015 
    August 24, 2015 
 PC DATE:   
     
APPLICANT:  Liz Purcell 
 
HISTORIC NAME:  Pine Street Station – ADDITIONAL BUILDINGS 
 
WATERSHED:  Waller Creek 
 
ADDRESS OF PROPOSED ZONING CHANGE:  414 Waller Street, 1101 E. 5th Street. 
 
ZONING FROM:  TOD-NP to TOD-H-NP 
 
SUMMARY STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff supported the landmark designation of 
the ca. 1925 Humble oil depot, which was then recommended for historic zoning by the 
Commission.  The Commission also approved a Certificate of Appropriateness to move the 
ca. 1925 building to another railroad-related site in East Austin.  Staff, however, does not 
support the landmark designation of the additional buildings, but recommends archival 
documentation of these buildings instead.  Staff recognizes the historical significance of the 
Humble Oil depot, and recognizes that the complex was developed over time, but since the 
buildings are being removed from their original location, the significance of the additional 
buildings will be compromised, and staff believes that archival documentation of these 
buildings and interpretation of the depot complex at its new site is the most appropriate 
measure in this case. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS FOR LANDMARK DESIGNATION: 
The ca. 1925 Humble oil depot is one of only 2 buildings of its type in Austin.  It retains a 
high degree of integrity, and has historical significance for its association with Austin’s 
early 20th-century railroad and industrial period.  This building has been recommended for 
historic designation, but also for a move to a new location. 
 
HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION ACTION:  March 23, 2015: Recommended historic 
designation for the Humble Oil depot. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION:   
 
DEPARTMENT COMMENTS:  The building was brought to the attention of the Historic 
Landmark Commission by a group of citizens, one of whom had her art studio in the 
building for many years.  The citizens asked the Commission to initiate a historic zoning 
case on this building to preserve it as part of Austin’s industrial heritage in East Austin, as 
well as for its later uses as a art studios and performing arts spaces.  The building is not 
noted in any City survey. 
Capital Metro will agree to the zoning of the building as historic, but opposes the re-zoning 
of the land.  Capital Metro may have future plans to move the building to another location 
along the tracks and allow it to be used as an arts center.  Moving the building will require 
a Certificate of Appropriateness from the Commission. 
The other historic gasoline depot in Austin (which is also a landmark) is the Texaco Depot 
in the 1300 block of E. 4th Street along the railroad tracks.  This is another situation where 
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the building is designated as a landmark, but the land, also owned by Capital Metro, is 
zoned historic. 
CITY COUNCIL DATE:     ACTION: 
 
ORDINANCE READINGS: 1ST  2ND 3RD    ORDINANCE NUMBER: 
 
CASE MANAGER:  Steve Sadowsky     PHONE:  974-6454 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD ORGANIZATION:   East Cesar Chavez Neighborhood Association 
 
BASIS FOR RECOMMENDATION: 
Architecture:  
One-story, rectangular-plan, front-gabled, frame warehouse building, with corrugated 
metal siding, paired 4:4 fenestration, and a metal roof. 
Historical Associations: 
The building was built around 1925 as the oil storage warehouse for the Humble Oil and 
Refining Company along the railroad tracks in East Austin. The area around 5th and Waller 
Streets was once home to a number of oil and gas storage facilities along the then-Houston and 
Texas Central Railroad tracks.   The site of the current building was once part of the yards of 
the Houston and Texas Central Railroad; the railroad had a number of its own facilities on the 
site prior to the mid-1920s, and Humble had its own facilities along the tracks west of 
downtown near 3rd and Bowie Streets.  Around 1925, Humble moved to the east side, 
constructed this building, which served as their primary depot until around 1950.  From this 
building, Humble received traincars of oil, stored it in tanks, and loaded trucks to deliver its 
products to various wholesale and retail suppliers around town. 
 
After Humble moved out of this facility around 1950, this, and associated buildings within the 
larger context were used by the Acme Fast Freight Company until the late 1960s.  With the 
decline in railroad traffic, and the attendant rise in truck traffic, most facilities previously 
located along the tracks relocated to the highways, and this building, like many others, fell into 
vacancy and disrepair.  In the 1980s, an emerging arts scene in East Austin brought new 
vitality to these buildings; this building housed the art glass studio of Reji Thomas until 
recently.  Other similar buildings began to be used as rehearsal spaces, recording studios, and 
other arts-related studios and performance spaces. 
 
PARCEL NO.:  0204051901 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  John L. Smith;’s Subdivision of the south half of Outlot No. 2. 
  
ESTIMATED ANNUAL TAX ABATEMENT: N/A.  The building and land is owned by 
Capitol Metro. 
 
APPRAISED VALUE:  Unknown.  The property does not seem to be on the tax rolls. 
 
PRESENT USE:  Former art studio, now vacant. 
 
CONDITION:  Good 
 
PRESENT OWNERS:  Capital Metro Transportation Authority 
 
DATE BUILT:  ca. 1925 
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ALTERATIONS/ADDITIONS:  Several additions to the rear of the original structure. 
 
ORIGINAL OWNER(S):  Humble Oil and Refining Company 
 
OTHER HISTORICAL DESIGNATIONS:   None. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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Historical background of 414 Waller Street (Pine Street Station) 

City of Austin Historic Preservation Office, October, 2014 

The building at 414 Waller Street dates from around 1925, and was constructed by the Humble 
Oil and Refining Company as their main facility in Austin.  The original building, as shown on the 
1935 Sanborn map, was at the corner, and corresponds to what is now the long row of 
connected buildings extending west along the 1100 block of E. 5th Street. 

At the time the Humble facility was built, there were a number of oil and gas facilities along this 
section of the what was then the Houston and Texas Central Railroad tracks, including a facility 
for Gulf Oil, and another for Magnolia Petroleum at the other corners of 5th and Waller Streets.  
The parcel of land where the existing building was constructed was, at the turn of the 20th 
century part of the yards of the Houston and Texas Central Railroad, and had their own railroad 
facilities there, rather than facilities of private companies.  The 1900 Sanborn map shows what 
appears to be a dwelling at the site of the current building on Waller Street and the iron-clad 
warehouse of the Wyse Oil Company directly behind (to the west) of it.  However, city 
directories of the same period indicate that the Wyse Oil Company had their facilities on the 
northwest, rather than the southwest corner of 5th and Waller Streets – which source is in error 
is certainly not clear. 

What is clear is that through the 1924 Austin city directory, any address corresponding to the 
location of the current building was associated with the Houston and Texas Central Railroad 
yards and the yardmaster.  Not until the 1927 directory did the Humble Oil and Refining 
Company appear as an address, and it was as 414 Waller Street.  Prior to 1925, the Humble Oil 
and Refining Company had their facilities on the west side of town, along the tracks at 3rd and 
Bowie Streets.  They moved to the east side around 1925, and remained here until around 
1950. 

Additions to the building to the west were constructed at various times; the 1962 Sanborn map 
shows the variety of additions that still exist today.  After Humble moved out of the facility 
around 1950, the entire block appears to have been used by the Acme Fast Freight Company, 
forwarding freight agents.  They were in operation until the late 1960s.  The buildings appear to 
have been vacant until they were brought back to life by an emerging art scene in East Austin in 
the 1980s, including Reji Thomas, who established her glass studio in the building.  In more 
recent years, the buildings have also been used as a music venue, called Pine Street Station.  
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414 Waller Street 

ca. 1925 

 
 

 
Photograph of the ca. 1925 oil depot and the associated buildings along E. 

5th Street. 
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OCCUPANCY HISTORY 

414 Waller Street 
 
City Directory Research, Austin History Center 
By City Historic Preservation Office 
October, 2014 
 
1992  No return 
 
1985-86 Graphic Glass by Reji 
  Reji Thomas, proprietor 

NOTE:  The address is listed as 1101 E. 5th Street.  There is no listing for 414 
Waller Street. 

 
1981 No addresses listed on the odd side of E. 5th Street and nothing listed at 414 

Waller Street. 
 
1977 No addresses listed on the odd side of E. 5th Street west of Waller Street and 

nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
1973 No addresses listed on the odd side of E. 5th Street west of Waller Street and 

nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
1968  1101 E. 5th Street: Acme Fast Freight, forwarding agents 
     Carl W. Wolff, freight agent 
  Nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
1962  1101 E. 5th Street: Acme Fast Freight, forwarding agents 
     Carl W. Wolff, freight agent 
  Nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
 
1959  1101 E. 5th Street: Acme Fast Freight, forwarding agents 
     Carl W. Wolff, freight agent 
  Nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
1955  1101 E. 5th Street: Acme Fast Freight, forwarding agents 
     Carl W. Wolff, freight agent 
  414 Waller Street: Vacant 
 
1952  1101 E. 5th Street: Acme Fast Freight, forwarding agents 
     Carl W. Wolff, freight agent 
  Nothing listed at 414 Waller Street. 
 
1949  1105 E. 5th Street: Glazier Frosted Food Company 
     Arthur W. Booth, proprietor 

414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company Bulk Station 
 
1947  1109 E. 5th Street: Southern Pacific Lines yard office 
  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, wholesale oils 
 
1944-45 1109 E. 5th Street: Southern Pacific Lines yard office 
  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, wholesale oils 
 
1941  1109 E. 5th Street: Southern Pacific Lines yard office 
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  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, wholesale oils 
 
1939  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, office and plant 

 
1937  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, main facility 
 
1935  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company, main facility 
 
1932-33 414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company 
 
1930-31 414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company 
 
1929  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company 
 
1927  414 Waller Street: Humble Oil and Refining Company 
 
1924  412 Waller Street: Houston and Texas Central Railroad yardmaster 

NOTE:  Humble Oil and Refining Company had their facility at W. 3rd and Bowie 
Streets. 

 
1922  412 Waller Street: Houston and Texas Central Railroad yardmaster 
 
1920  412 Waller Street: Houston and Texas Central Railroad yardmaster 
 
 

 
The 1900 Sanborn map shows what appears to be a house facing Waller Street and the Wyse 
Oil Company iron-clad warehouse behind it.  There were spur railroad tracks along E. 5th Street 

at that time – the Houston and Texas Central Railroad freight depot and platforms are at the 
very bottom of this map shot and faced along the main line of the railroad between 4th and 5th 

Streets. 
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The 1935 Sanborn map clearly shows the Humble Oil and Refining Company facilities at the 
site of the current building, which is shown as the oil storage warehouse.  The building shown 

here (the current building) is not the same building as depicted in the 1900 map above. 
 
 

 
The 1962 Sanborn map shows the expansion of the building westward along E. 5th Street – the 
buildings are noted as a door warehouse – Davidson Sash and Door Company had its plant just 

to the west of this facility.  
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NOTE:  The building at 414 Waller Street is Map ID No. 7 above. 
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